No. 47963-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

John Ragland,

Appellant.

Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-01628-5

The Honorable Judge Mary Wilson

Appellant's Corrected Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Skylar T. Brett
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court's instructions deprived Mr. Ragland of his Wash. Const. art. I, § 21 right to a unanimous verdict
2. The court erred by giving Instruction No. 22.
3. The court erred by failing to instruct the jury that it had to unanimously agree as to which specific act had been proved to support each of Mr. Ragland's charges.

ISSUE 1: When the state relies on evidence of multiple alleged acts to support a single charge, the court must instruct the jury that it has to unanimously agree that a specific act has been proved in order to convict. Did the court violate Mr. Ragland's right to unanimity by instructing the jury that it need only be unanimous regarding a specific underlying act for three out of the six charges?

4. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Mr. Ragland of his Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
5. The prosecutor committed misconduct by directly asking Mr. Ragland whether the alleged victims were lying.
6. The court erred by overruling Mr. Ragland's objection to the prosecutor's question about whether I.M.R. and S.D.R. were lying.

ISSUE 2: A prosecutor commits misconduct by asking the accused whether a witness is lying. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by directly asking Mr. Ragland whether he was accusing his children of lying?

7. The prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the law regarding the unanimity requirement.
8. The prosecutor committed misconduct by encouraging jurors to ignore the court's instructions.

ISSUE 3: A prosecutor commits misconduct by misstating the law to the jury. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by arguing that the unanimity instruction did not apply to one of the charges explicitly included in its language?

9. The prosecutor committed misconduct by arguing that jurors could convict on two counts of molestation based on a single act.

ISSUE 4: To avoid double jeopardy violations, the jury must base multiple convictions for the same offense on “separate and distinct acts.” Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by arguing that jurors could convict for two counts of child molestation against S.D.R. if they concluded that he had committed a single act?

10. The prosecutor committed misconduct by minimizing and mischaracterizing the state’s burden of proof to the jury.
11. The prosecutor committed misconduct by telling jurors that they had an abiding belief if they believed the alleged victims when they walked out of the courthouse.
12. The prosecutor committed misconduct by telling jurors that they were convinced beyond a reasonable doubt if they believed that the children had “suffered at the hands of their father.”

ISSUE 5: To convict for any charge, the jury must have an abiding belief in the defendant’s guilt. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by telling jurors they had an abiding belief if they believed the alleged victims when they walked out of the courthouse?

ISSUE 6: To convict, jurors must believe that each element has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt should convict if they believed that I.M.R. and S.D.R. had “suffered”?

13. The prosecutor committed misconduct by disparaging the role of defense counsel.

ISSUE 7: A prosecutor commits misconduct by reframing the defense theory as an attempt to get jurors to “look over here but not over here.” Did the prosecutor at Mr. Ragland’s trial commit misconduct by making that exact argument to the jury?

14. The cumulative effect of the prosecutor’s misconduct deprived Mr. Ragland of a fair trial.

ISSUE 8: The cumulative effect of repeated instances of prosecutorial misconduct can require reversal even when individual arguments would not. Do the prosecutor’s repeated and varied improper questions and arguments require reversal of Mr. Ragland’s convictions?

15. The court abused its discretion by ruling that I.M.R. was competent to testify at trial.
16. The court erred by entering finding of fact 8(a). Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP.
17. The court erred by entering finding of fact 8(b). Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP.
18. The court erred by entering finding of fact 8(c). Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP.
19. The court erred by entering finding of fact 8(d). Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP.
20. The court erred by entering conclusion of law 2. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP.
21. Because I.M.R. is not competent to testify, the court violated Mr. Ragland’s Sixth Amendment right to confrontation by admitting her testimonial hearsay.
22. Because I.M.R. is not competent to testify, the court violated the child hearsay statute by admitting hearsay statements without first determining whether they were sufficiently corroborated.

ISSUE 9: A child witness is incompetent to testify if s/he demonstrates an inability to differentiate truth from falsity. Did the court err by finding I.M.R. competent after she told numerous untrue stories on the witness stand during the competency hearing?

23. The court erred by ordering Mr. Ragland to pay over \$2,000 in discretionary legal financial obligations absent any inquiry into whether he had the means to do so.

24. The court erred by entering finding of fact 2.5. CP 356.

ISSUE 10: A court may not order a person to pay discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs) without conducting an individualized inquiry into his/her means to do so. Did the court err by ordering Mr. Ragland to pay over \$2,000 in LFOs over his objection while also finding him indigent and without analyzing whether he had the money to pay?

25. The court erred by scoring each of Mr. Ragland's convictions separately for sentencing purposes.

26. Counts I and V should have scored as the same criminal conduct.

27. Counts III and VI should have scored as the same criminal conduct.

ISSUE 11: Two offenses should not increase each other's offender scores if they involve the same criminal intent, same victim, and are committed at the same time and place. Did the court err by scoring each of Mr. Ragland's incest charges separately from the underlying rape and molestation charges?

28. Mr. Ragland was denied his Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel at sentencing.

29. Mr. Ragland's attorney provided ineffective assistance by stipulating to an improperly-calculated offender score.

ISSUE 12: Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance by stipulating to an improperly-calculated offender score. Did Mr. Ragland's attorney provide ineffective assistance by stipulating

to his offender score that failed to properly score several offenses as same criminal conduct?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Mr. Ragland had a contentious relationship with his wife, Bonnie¹. RP (7/9/15) 430. The couple argued about money and his drinking. RP (7/9/15) 430. By the end of 2011, Mr. Ragland had become physically abusive. RP (7/9/15) 429-431.

Mr. Ragland was arrested on Christmas night 2011 and convicted of misdemeanor assault against Bonnie. RP (7/9/15) 432. He did not see his wife or three children again for several years after that. RP (7/9/15) 457.

In 2012, Bonnie petitioned for and got a protection order prohibiting Mr. Ragland from contacting his children. Ex. 4. Even so, Bonnie was afraid that Mr. Ragland would try to contact the children or seek custody. RP (7/9/15) 434.

That order expired in spring of 2013. RP (7/9/15) 435; Ex. 4.

About a month after the protection order expired, Bonnie went to her sister's house (next door) with her two oldest children, I.M.R. and S.D.R. RP (7/9/15) 418, 435. Bonnie told her sister that the children told her that Mr. Ragland had sexually abused them. RP (7/9/15) 418.

¹ Bonnie Ragland's first name is used to differentiate her from Mr. Ragland. No disrespect is intended.

I.M.R. told her mother and aunt that Mr. Ragland had abused both her and S.D.R. RP (7/9/15) 416-417. She also claimed that Mr. Ragland had made the children have sexual contact with each other. RP (7/9/15) 416-417, 419.

The state charged Mr. Ragland with three counts of child molestation in the first degree, one count of rape of a child in the first degree, and two counts of incest. CP 3-4.

The children were interviewed by a doctor at a sexual assault clinic. RP (7/9/15) 552. I.M.R. told the doctor that she wanted the police to take her father and her “mean teacher” to jail. RP (7/9/15) 584.

I.M.R. was eleven years old at the time of trial. RP (7/8/15) 178. She has developmental delays and is in special education at school. RP (7/9/15) 419-420.

At a competency hearing, I.M.R. testified that she had hidden cameras watching everyone:

I.M.R.: First off, I want to tell you something that is not true. That is really true. I have hidden –

PROSECUTOR: Is it true or not true?

I.M.R.: I have secret little cameras that are really tiny.

PROSECUTOR: Is that a story?

I.M.R.: No.

PROSECUTOR: No?

I.M.R.: And I am watching all of you. And I have them everywhere on earth.

PROSECUTOR: Okay.

I.M.R.: I am even watching you, and right now is there any hidden cameras here?

PROSECUTOR: No, there are no hidden cameras in here. [I.M.R.], you said you graduated from elementary school?

I.M.R.: Yes. And now I have hidden cameras everywhere, and hidden cameras on here, here, here, here, here, and all over everybody.

RP (6/15/15) 32-33.

I.M.R. also testified that Mr. Ragland had once abused her in the bathroom at Top Foods. RP (6/15/15) 35-36. She said that her mother walked in, saw him doing it, and told Mr. Ragland that he was a “jerk.” RP (6/15/15) 36.

I.M.R.’s mother, Bonnie, testified that she never walked in on an incident in a Top Food’s bathroom or called Mr. Ragland a jerk. RP (6/17/15) 149-150.

I.M.R. told a sheriff’s deputy that a strange woman bit Mr. Ragland’s “weiner” in the Top Food’s bathroom. RP (6/17/15) 36. I.M.R. later said that she had actually “bit his weiner” herself. RP (7/7/15) 109.

I.M.R. told a defense investigator that Mr. Ragland’s abuse had ripped stitches that she’d had in her vaginal area. RP (7/13/15) 664-666.

During the competency hearing, I.M.R.'s mother testified that I.M.R. had never had stitches. RP (6/17/15) 163. This was confirmed by a doctor. RP (7/9/15) 46.

The court found that I.M.R. testified to some things that were not true at the competency hearing. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP. Still, the court found that those untruths went to her credibility, not to the admissibility of her testimony. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP. The court found her competent to testify. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP.

At trial, I.M.R. testified that her father had made her drink beer. RP (7/8/15) 188. Then she said that was not actually true. RP (7/8/15) 189. She said she had watched a movie recently about kids drinking beer. RP (7/8/15) 189. Then she started burping in response to the prosecutor's questions. RP (7/8/14) 189.

S.D.R. testified that Mr. Ragland had never made him and I.M.R. engage in sexual contact with one another. RP (7/8/15) 311.

At the close of her testimony, I.M.R. said "[S.D.R.] never got abused." RP (7/8/15). Then she asked, "why is [S.D.R.] here?" RP (7/18/15) 384.

Mr. Ragland testified at trial. RP (7/13/15) 737-743. He denied all of the accusations against him. RP (7/13/15) 737-743.

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Mr. Ragland whether he was accusing the children of lying. RP (7/13/15) 743. Mr. Ragland objected to the question but the court overruled his objection. RP (7/13/15) 743.

The prosecutor again asked Mr. Ragland, “You’re saying they’re lying?” RP (7/13/15) 743. Mr. Ragland was forced to respond. RP (7/13/15) 743.

The court instructed the jury about the need to unanimously agree as to which allegations had been proved:

The state alleges that the defendant committed acts of Child Molestation in the First Degree on multiple occasions. To convict the defendant on any count of Child Molestation in the First Degree, one particular act of Child Molestation in the First Degree must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved. You need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts of Child Molestation in the First Degree.
CP 275.

The court did not instruct the jury that it had to unanimously agree regarding which acts had been proved to support the rape or incest charges. CP 251-277.

In closing, the prosecutor reiterated Mr. Ragland’s response to the question about whether the children were lying:

... defendant got up on the stand and testified and talked about how his kids aren’t liars, he wouldn’t call them a liar [sic], but he

got angry with me when I asked the question. He got angry with me and said they were put up to it.
RP (7/13/15) 775.

The prosecutor described the state's burden as follows:

Ladies and gentlemen, if you walk out of here and say, 'I believe those kids,' that's an abiding belief. That's beyond a reasonable doubt."
RP (7/13/15) 776.

The prosecutor also told the jury that they should convict Mr. Ragland of all charges if they have an abiding belief that the children had "suffered at the hands of their father." RP (7/13/15) 817.

The prosecutor told the jury that counts III and IV – each for alleged molestation of S.D.R. – were similar and the jury needed to believe only that Mr. Ragland either touched S.D.R.'s penis or that S.D.R. touched Mr. Ragland's penis. RP (7/13/15) 793.

In rebuttal argument, the prosecutor argued that the defense attorney was trying to divert the jury's attention from the real issues. RP (7/13/15) 817. She characterized the defense theory as follows: "Look over here and look over here and look over here. Don't look at what the kids actually said." RP (7/13/15) 817.

The jury convicted Mr. Ragland of all charges. CP 278-283.

At sentencing, the court scored each of Mr. Ragland's offenses against the other. CP 356. Defense counsel agreed with this calculation of his offender score in his sentencing memorandum. CP 324.

Mr. Ragland objected to all non-mandatory legal financial obligations (LFOs). RP (8/27/15) 9. He pointed out that he was indigent. RP (8/27/15) 9. The court did not conduct any inquiry into Mr. Ragland's financial situation. RP (8/27/15) 1-33. Even so, the court ordered him to pay \$2158.30 in extradition costs. CP 357.

This timely appeal follows. CP 327.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS DEPRIVED MR. RAGLAND OF HIS RIGHT TO A UNANIMOUS VERDICT.

Each charge was based on multiple alleged acts. In the state's closing, the prosecutor told the jury that they could choose from among numerous allegations to find him guilty of each charge. RP (7/13/15) 790-794.

Still, the jury was only instructed that it had to unanimously agree about which alleged act had been proven to support the child molestation charges. CP 275. The instructions did not tell jurors they had to unanimously agree regarding the underlying conduct for the rape of a child and incest charges.

Indeed, the jury likely understood the Instruction No. 22's limitation as an invitation to aggregate evidence of multiple alleged acts to find him guilty of the remaining charges even if they did not unanimously agree about a single incident.

The court's failure to give a unanimity instruction for the rape and incest charges violated Mr. Ragland's constitutional right to a unanimous verdict. *State v. Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d 509, 511, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007).

An accused person has a state constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict.² Art. I, § 21; *State v. Elmore*, 155 Wn.2d 758, 771 n. 4, 123 P.3d 72 (2005). Before a defendant can be convicted, jurors must unanimously agree that he or she committed a specific criminal act. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 511.³

Where the prosecution introduces evidence of more than one act to support a single charge, the state must elect one act for conviction. If the prosecutor does not elect a single act, the court must provide a unanimity instruction as to that charge. *Id.* This requirement "protect[s] a criminal

² The federal constitutional guarantee of a unanimous verdict does not apply in state court. *Apodaca v. Oregon*, 406 U.S. 404, 406, 92 S.Ct. 1628, 32 L.Ed.2d 184 (1972).

³ Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Zillyette*, 178 Wn.2d 153, 161, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). A trial court's failure to provide a unanimity instruction is a manifest error affecting the constitutional right to a unanimous verdict. *State v. Moultrie*, 143 Wn. App. 387, 392, 177 P.3d 776 (2008); RAP 2.5(a)(3). Such errors can be raised for the first time on appeal. *Moultrie*, 143 Wn. App. at 392; *State v. Kiser*, 87 Wn. App. 126, 129, 940 P.2d 308 (1997).³

defendant's right to a unanimous verdict based on an act proved beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.*

Failure to provide a unanimity instruction creates "the possibility that some jurors relied on one act or incident and some relied on another, resulting in a lack of unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction." *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 512. Such a possibility creates the risk that jurors will improperly aggregate evidence of multiple acts in convicting for a single count. *Id.*

Failure to provide a unanimity instruction in a multiple acts case gives rise to a presumption of prejudice. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 510. The presumption is overcome only if no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt as to any incident for which evidence was presented. *Id.*

In Mr. Ragland's case, each charge was based on multiple alleged acts. The court should have instructed the jury that it had to unanimously agree which alleged act had been proved beyond a reasonable doubt to support every charge. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 511. The court erred by failing to provide a unanimity instruction for the rape and incest charges. *Id.*

The state cannot overcome the presumption of prejudice arising from the court's failure to provide a unanimity instruction for the rape and

incest charges. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 510. Rational jurors could have had a reasonable doubt about any of the alleged incidents.

Both I.M.R. and S.D.R.'s stories changed significantly over time. *See e.g.* RP (7/9/15) 429, 437, 442, 444, 504, 512, 517, 520-521, 586; RP (7/13/15) 664-666, 672, 674-675, 681, 685. In fact, I.M.R. said at the end of her testimony that S.D.R. had never been abused. RP (7/18/15) 384.

The prosecutor also reiterated in closing that the unanimity requirement only applied to the child molestation charges. RP (7/13/15) 791-792. Mr. Ragland was prejudiced by the court's failure to provide a unanimity instruction for the rape and incest charges. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 510.

The court violated Mr. Ragland's right to a unanimous verdict by instructing the jury that it only had to unanimously agree which alleged act had been proved to support the child molestation charges. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 511. Mr. Ragland's other convictions must be reversed. *Id.*

II. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED MR. RAGLAND OF A FAIR TRIAL.

Prosecutorial misconduct can deprive the accused of a fair trial. *In re Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV, Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. To determine whether a prosecutor's misconduct warrants reversal, the court looks at its

prejudicial nature and cumulative effect. *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 518, 111 P.3d 899 (2005). A prosecutor's improper statements prejudice the accused if they create a substantial likelihood that the verdict was affected. *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 704. The inquiry must look to the misconduct and its impact, not the evidence that was properly admitted. *Id.* at 711.

Prosecutorial misconduct during argument can be particularly prejudicial. There is a risk that jurors will lend it special weight “not only because of the prestige associated with the prosecutor's office but also because of the fact-finding facilities presumably available to the office.” *Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d at 706 (quoting commentary to the *American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice* std. 3–5.8).

Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal, even absent an objection below, if it is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). The misconduct here was flagrant and ill-intentioned, and could not have been cured.

A. The prosecutor committed misconduct by directly asking Mr. Ragland whether his children were lying.

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Mr. Ragland directly whether, by denying the accusations against him, Mr. Ragland was

accusing his children of lying. RP (7/13/15) 743. The court overruled Mr. Ragland's objection to the question and he was forced to answer. RP (7/13/15) 743. During closing, the prosecutor revisited Mr. Ragland's answer, arguing that it was evidence of his guilt. RP (7/13/15) 775.

The prosecutor committed misconduct by asking Mr. Ragland to call his children liars. *State v. Ramos*, 164 Wn. App. 327, 334, 263 P.3d 1268 (2011).

A prosecutor commits misconduct by asking a witness whether another witness is lying. *Ramos*, 164 Wn. App. at 334. The accused is prejudiced by being required to testify about whether another witness is lying. *Id.*

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