IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JOHN RAGLAND,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Mary Wilson, Judge Cause No. 13-1-01628-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. Whether the failure of the trial court to instruct the jury as to the requirement of unanimity for the first degree rape of a child charge, the first degree incest charge, and the second degree incest charge may be raised for the first time on appeal, and if so, whether that failure constituted harmless error under the facts of this case.
- 2. Whether the prosecutor committed misconduct requiring reversal of Ragland's convictions.
- 3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in finding I.M.R. competent as a witness.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred by not counting the incest convictions as the same criminal conduct as either the first degree rape of a child or one of the first degree child molestation convictions; if not, whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request a same criminal conduct analysis.
- 5. Whether the trial court failed to consider Ragland's financial circumstances before imposing extradition costs.
- 6. Whether this court should impose appellate costs on Ragland in the event the State substantially prevails on appeal.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The State accepts the appellant's statement of the substantive and procedural facts, with additional facts to be included in the argument section.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. The failure of the trial court to instruct the jury as to its duty to be unanimous as to the charges of first degree rape of a child and first and second degree incest is not, under the circumstances of this case, a

manifest constitutional error that may be raised for the first time on appeal. If this court does choose to review the claim, however, the error was harmless.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution, require that a defendant may be convicted of a crime only if the members of the jury unanimously conclude that he committed the criminal act with which he was charged. State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984); State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). Where the evidence indicates that more than one distinct criminal act has been committed, but the defendant is charged with only one count of the crime, the jury must be unanimous as to which act constituted the crime charged. State v. Bobenhouse, 166 Wn.2d 881, 893, 214 P.3d 907 (2009).

In cases where the State offers more than one act that could constitute the crime, but charges only one count, the State must elect which act it is relying on to convict the defendant, or the court must give the jury an instruction telling it that it must be unanimous as to the act constituting the charge on which it convicts—known as a *Petrich* instruction. <u>Bobenhouse</u>, 166 Wn.2d at 893. The failure to do one of these two things is constitutional error. <u>Id</u>. Prejudice is presumed, but that presumption may be overcome and the error is

harmless if a "rational trier of fact could find that each incident was proved beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 65, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

a. Ragland did not object to the lack of a unanimity instruction at trial, nor did he propose such an instruction. He has not shown that he has suffered a manifest constitutional error permitting him to raise this claim for the first time on appeal.

Ragland was charged with one count of first degree rape of a child, naming I.M.R. as the victim. CP 3. He was charged with three counts of first degree child molestation, one with I.M.R. as the victim and two with S.D.R as the victim. CP 3-4. There was one count of first degree incest involving I.M.R. as the victim and one count of second degree incest with S.D.R. as the victim. CP 4. The jury was instructed that as to the first degree child molestation charges it must unanimously decide upon the act which constituted each individual count. Instruction No. 22; CP 275. There was no similar instruction relating to the incest charges or the first degree rape of a child.

The State did not elect any specific act as the basis for any of the incest charges or the first degree rape of a child count. During closing argument, while discussing the first degree rape of a child charge, in which I.M.R. was the victim, the prosecutor talked

about three possible acts—Ragland penetrating I.M.R.s private with his penis, penetrating her private with his fingers, and making her suck his penis. RP 791.¹ The prosecutor then said:

Now, you're required to define or determine unanimously which one of those you agree with, which one of those happened. You only have to pick one. I submit to you, ladies and gentlemen, you have three to choose from.

RP 791.

When addressing the first degree incest charge, where I.M.R. was the victim, the prosecutor offered three options: the defendant made I.M.R. suck his penis, penetrated her vagina with his penis, and put his fingers in her anus. RP 794. With regard to S.D.R., the prosecutor only referred to sexual contact and said, "Did it occur between [S.D.R.] and his dad? Yeah, it did." RP 794. The issue of unanimity as to the act was not discussed in connection with either count of incest. Shortly before that, when talking about the child molestation charges, the prosecutor discussed the defendant touching S.D.R.'s penis or the boy touching the defendant's penis. RP 793.

¹ Unless otherwise designated, references to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings are to the five-volume trial transcript dated July 6-9 and 13, 2015. These volumes are sequentially paginated 1 through 825.

Ragland filed some proposed jury instructions, but did not include a unanimity instruction. CP 196-213, 249-50. During the trial there were extensive discussions between both counsel and the court regarding the instructions. RP 135-149; 598-620; 724-29. Although it does not appear in the Defendant's Proposed Jury Instructions, there was discussion about the *Petrich* instruction proposed by the defense. The prosecutor agreed to use the defendant's proposed instruction. RP 725-27. Defense counsel explained his understanding of the law regarding unanimity. RP 726. At no time did defense counsel seek a unanimity instruction for any charge other than the child molestation charges. The defense had no objections or exceptions to the jury instructions as given. RP 728.

RAP 2.5 normally precludes raising an issue for the first time on appeal, unless the claimed error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). "To meet RAP 2.5(a) and raise an error for the first time on appeal, an appellant must demonstrate (1) the error is manifest, and (2) the error is truly of constitutional dimension." State v. McNearney, COA No. 32667-5-III, slip op. at 5-6 (March 31, 2016) (*quoting* State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)). This exception "is not

intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can 'identify a constitutional issue not litigated below.'" State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1998) (quoting State v. Valladares, 31 Wn. App. 63, 76, 639 P.2d 813 (1982), reversed in part on other grounds, 99 Wn.2d 663, 664 P.2d 508 (1983)).

Actual prejudice is what makes an error manifest. McNearney, slip op. at 6. "An appellant can demonstrate actual prejudice by making a plausible showing that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial." Id. Here, Ragland does not point to any specific prejudice, merely asserts that the State cannot overcome the presumption of prejudice. Appellant's Opening Brief at 14-15. He argues that the victims' stories changed significantly over time and cites to specific portions of the record. However, looking at those portions, it is apparent that, rather than changing their accounts of what happened, the children disclosed additional acts over time. See, e.g., RP 443-44. Dr. Deborah Hall, who interviewed and physically examined both children, testified that it is normal for children to make small disclosures at first, and if they get a supportive reaction, to disclose more information over time. RP 579-80. At the time of trial I.M.R.

and S.D.R. were only eleven and nine years old, respectively. RP 178, 290. I.M.R. has significant developmental delays resulting from her traumatic birth four months prematurely. RP 419. Both children were in special education programs. RP 420. It is obvious from the record that I.M.R. was a difficult witness. RP 177-93; 336-86; 398-411.

While the disclosures of the children made to their mother, aunt, and grandmother, as well as Dr. Hall, Detective Ivanovich, and the defense investigator did not necessarily follow a chronological order, they were not necessarily contradictory. Ragland points to the testimony of I.M.R. that S.D.R. had never been abused. Appellant's Opening Brief at 15; RP 384. However, it is apparent from reading her testimony that nobody defined "abused" for her. It is not a given that an eleven year old child would understand that "abuse" meant sexual acts. Both I.M.R. and S.D.R. testified that Ragland had thrown I.M.R. in the hallway. RP 314, 401. They testified that Ragland had pushed and hit their mother. RP 312, 400. It is a reasonable inference that I.M.R. equated abuse with non-sexual violence.

In fact, given that the victims were very young at the time of trial and even younger at the time of the events at issue, their disclosures to other parties as well as their testimony at trial was consistent. To establish a manifest error, Ragland must show that the error "had practical and identifiable consequences at trial." McNearney, slip op. at 6. The evidence for each of the acts which could form the basis of the crimes of first degree rape of a child and first and second degree incest was equally strong. If the jury believed one act occurred it likely believed that they all occurred. The error is not manifest and Ragland should not be allowed to raise it for the first time on appeal.

b. <u>If this court does review the failure to instruct the jury regarding unanimity for the rape of a child and incest charges, the error was harmless.</u>

When the State fails to elect a specific act constituting a particular charge, and the court does not instruct the jury as to unanimity, it is constitutional error. There exists the possibility that the jurors did not all rely on the same act. <u>Kitchen</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 411. The error is harmless if a rational trier of fact could find that each act was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d at 65.

In <u>Camarillo</u>, the court held that:

[T]he jury may consider the totality of the evidence of several incidents to ascertain whether there is proof beyond a reasonable doubt to substantiate guilt because of the acts constituting one incident and also to believe that if one happened, then all must have happened.

Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d at 71. See also, Bobenhouse, 166 Wn.2d at 895 ("[I]f the jury in Bobenhouse's case reasonably believed that one incident happened, it must have believed each of the incidents happened.")² In Ragland's case, there was no real conflicting evidence. Ragland relied on a flat denial, arguing that the children were coached. RP 738-43. Even though there was no unanimity instruction connected to the rape of a child charge, the prosecutor argued to the jury that it must be unanimous as to the act constituting the crime. RP 791. As to that charge and the incest counts, the evidence was equally strong as to each act that could form the basis of those charges. If the jury believed that one happened, it must have believed that they all happened.

Ragland interprets the rather convoluted and un-detailed testimony of the children to infer that their accounts were inconsistent or untruthful. But determinations of credibility lie with the jury alone. <u>Camarillo</u>, 115 Wn.2d at 71. The jury observed the witnesses on the stand and would have gleaned a great deal of

² This is essentially another way of saying that the error was not manifest.

information by watching their body language, their manner of speaking, and facial expressions. Words that do not sound credible on a printed page may be very credible when coming from the mouth of a child who is talking about an embarrassing subject in front of a roomful of strangers and in the presence of the person he or she is accusing of doing those embarrassing things to him or her. The task of the reviewing court is "to determine whether a rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as to whether any of the incidents did not establish the crime. In other words, whether the evidence of each incident established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. at 71. Based upon the evidence presented to this jury, the answer to the last question is yes, and the error in failing to give the *Petrich* instruction regarding the rape of a child and incest charges was harmless.

2. There was no prosecutorial misconduct requiring reversal of Ragland's convictions.

A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct must show that the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejudicial in the context of the entire record and circumstances at trial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). To make a showing of prejudice, the defendant must "show a substantial"

Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 704, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). If the defendant objected at trial to the challenged conduct, he must only show the likelihood of prejudice resulting from it. If he did not object, he is considered to have waived any claim of error unless the prosecutor's misconduct "was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. Reviewing courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill intentioned, and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured. Id. at 762.

a. It was improper for the prosecutor to ask the defendant if the victims were lying. Ragland did not object. He cannot show that a curative instruction would have been useless.

It is improper for a prosecutor to ask any witness if another witness is lying, and it is prejudicial to ask the defendant if another witness is lying. State v. Ramos, 164 Wn. App. 327, 334, 263 P.3d 1268 (2011). What one witness thinks of the credibility of another witness is irrelevant. State v. Wright, 76 Wn. App. 811, 821-22, 888 P.2d 1214 (1995).³

3 Wright was superseded by statute on grounds not relevant to this argument.

11

Ragland testified in his defense. He told the jury that he had never done any of the acts that I.M.R. and S.D.R. had testified that he did. RP 738-41. He did not elaborate; he merely denied each allegation. On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked, "So you heard what [I.M.R.] said and you heard what [S.D.R.] said. Your testimony is that they're lying?" RP 743. Defense counsel objected and a sidebar was held. Id. At the sidebar, defense counsel argued that the question could open doors into subjects relating to ER 4040(b) matters that the court had previously excluded. The prosecutor advised she was not going to broach those topics. RP 744-45. Following the sidebar, the prosecutor asked again if the children were lying and Ragland replied, "Absolutely not. . . No, I'm not saying that they're liars like you asked me. I'm saying that I believe they're being told to lie. I would never call my kids liars, they'd have to know what it is first." RP 743. The prosecutor then ended her questioning. RP 744.

In this case it was Ragland's theory that the children had been coached. While he insisted he would not call them liars, he flatly denied each and every allegation that the children had made. No reasonable juror could conclude anything other than that he was claiming the children lied, even if they were being told by someone

else to say untrue things. It was not possible that both he and the children were telling the truth. In fact, the prosecutor's question permitted him to put before the jury his defense, which for some reason he did not articulate in his direct examination. RP 737-41.

During closing argument, defense counsel argued that the children were coached, that because they received attention and approval for their disclosures they felt the need to say more, or that their mother was telling them what to say. RP 803, 815. Under the circumstances of this case, the prosecutor's question, while improper, could not have been prejudicial. It permitted the defendant to tell the jury his theory that the children were coached.

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